

Testing Psychological Flexibility in the Curvilinear Model of Stressful Life Events

Siobhán Campion

18380563

Supervisor: Dr. Conor Nolan

Thesis Presented in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Bachelor of Arts (Hons)

Degree in Psychology, Submitted to the National College of Ireland, March 2021

Submission of Thesis and Dissertation

National College of Ireland

Research Students Declaration Form

(Thesis/Author Declaration Form)

Name: Siobhán Campion

Student Number: 18380563

Degree for which thesis is submitted: BA (Hons) in Psychology

Title of Thesis: Testing Psychological Flexibility in the Curvilinear model of Stressful Life Events

Date: 7th of March 2021

Material submitted for award

- A. I declare that this work submitted has been composed by myself.
- B. I declare that all verbatim extracts contained in the thesis have been distinguished by quotation marks and the sources of information specifically acknowledged.
- C. I agree to my thesis being deposited in the NCI Library online open access repository
 NORMA.
- D. *Either* *I declare that no material contained in the thesis has been used in any other submission for an academic award. *Or* *I declare that the following material contained in the thesis formed part of a submission for the award of

(State the award and

the awarding body and list the material below)

Acknowledgments

Firstly, I would like to thank our final year project module lecturer Dr. Michelle Kelly and my supervisor Dr. Conor Nolan for their brilliant advice, patience, and knowledge provided throughout the completion of this thesis.

I also want to express my thanks to all who took the time to participate in my study and to the staff at NCI, particularly for deciding to leave the last few weeks before the submission of this thesis free of other deadlines.

Lastly, I would like to thank my amazing friends who were always there to listen to me rambling, even when I didn't know what I was talking about, no matter how often I disappeared to figure things out. Their unwavering encouragement and faith in me made every difference in completing this thesis.

Abstract

This study aimed to synthesise recent findings identifying a curvilinear model of Stressful Life Events (SLEs) and a range of good outcomes, with studies finding Psychological Flexibility a more explanatory good outcome underpinning those previously found in this curvilinear model. Participants recruited through social media (n = 298) reporting as Psychologically Flexible and Psychologically Inflexible, as assessed by the Acceptance and Action Questionnaire - II (AAQ-2) were compared in their amount of experienced SLEs at four levels: none, low, medium, and high. This was calculated using the sample mean and spread of data using an adjusted version of the Life Stressor Checklist - Revised (LSC-R). The Big Five Inventory short (BFI-S) and the Valuing Questionnaire (VQ) were controlled for in a Multiple Hierarchical Logistic Regression. As additional variables were controlled for, medium levels of SLEs remained significant and became more predictive of Psychological Flexibility. Main findings support perspectives that the Yerkes-Dodson Law may be a principle of many facets of human behaviour. Higher VQ scores did not strengthen this relationship, rather, results indicate that AAQ-2 components which may be influenced by SLEs were those pertaining to openness to experience than commitment to values in this analysis. Further, only BFI-S trait Neuroticism significantly predicted Psychological Inflexibility.

Keywords: Psychological Flexibility, Psychological Inflexibility, valuing, stressful life events, curvilinear model, openness to experience, commitment to values, model testing, big five Personality traits, AAQ-2

Table of Contents

Declaration2
Acknowledgements
Abstract4
Introduction7
The Curvilinear model of Stressful Life Events
Psychological Flexibility as a Marker of Good Outcomes in the context of Stressful
Life Events11
Factors Influencing Psychological Flexibility and Stressful Life Events14
The Present Study16
Methodology
Participants18
Measures
Demographic Questionnaire
The Life Stressor Checklist - Revised (Adjusted)18
The Big Five Inventory – Short19
The Acceptance and Action Questionnaire – Revised20
The Valuing Questionnaire20
Design21
Procedure
Results
Descriptive Statistics
Inferential Statistics
Discussion
Implications

Limitations and Future Research	34
Conclusion	36
References	37
Appendices	49
Information and Consent Form	49
Measures	50
Debriefing Form	54
Evidence of Data	56

Introduction

Research has found higher amounts of stressful life events (SLEs) to incrementally predict greater risks to individual outcomes (Edwards et al., 2003, Classen et al., 2002, & Emery & Laumann-Billings, 1998). In contrast, ample evidence also exists on the benefits of SLEs, with researchers often citing increased certainty regarding what an individual values in life (see Cho & Park, 2013; Linley & Joseph, 2004, for reviews). Though most studies have focused protective factors (see Hjemdal et al., 2006), arguments also pertain to the assumption that SLEs incrementally predict poorer outcomes is a linear fashion (Shakiba et al., 2020, Koss et al., 2018, Seery, 2011, & Seery et al., 2010). Consequently, an emerging body of research has found support for a curvilinear model of SLEs predicting good psychological outcomes at low and medium levels, when compared to a high and a crucially non zero level (Lazić & Gavrilov-Jerković, 2021, Shakiba et al., 2020, Roberston, 2017, Seery, et al., 2013, & Seery et al., 2010). These studies have predicted good outcomes such as greater well-being, emotional resilience, and life satisfaction.

Though, it is critical for future studies to examine more explanatory markers of good outcomes (Park & Helgeson, 2006; Britt et al., 2001). Britt and colleagues (2001) explain that this would better increase the practicality of findings. One such construct with a burgeoning evidence base supporting its status as a process at the heart of these same good outcomes previously found in the curvilinear model is that of Psychological Flexibility (PF) (Kashdan et al., 2020; Yorulmaz et al., 2020). PF benefits from an in-depth theoretical framework, though it can be defined as the ability to accept the presence of destructive thoughts and commit to actions in service of subjective values (Hayes et al., 2009). Studies so far have demonstrated SLEs incrementally increase Psychological Inflexibility (PI) (Lilly & Allen, 2015), but the relationship between PF and SLEs has been less clear (Makriyianis et al., 2019; Gloster et al., 2017). Seery and colleagues (2010) explain most studies do not examine the cumulative nature

of SLE's and thus fail to identify this curvilinear effect. Further, as SLEs foster a more concrete sense of values (Shuwiekh & Ashby, 2018), SLEs may benefit PF.

Therefore, this study aims is to address a gap in existing literature through a synthesis of contemporary developments within SLEs and PF. Factors which may influence this relationship will be controlled for such as Big Five Personality traits, gender, and age. Theories and studies supporting the curvilinear model of SLEs, the relationship between SLEs and PF, and variables which previous studies have demonstrated a possible influence on the variables of focus will be reviewed.

The Curvilinear Model of Stressful Life Events

SLEs, also known as adverse events, come in the form of natural disasters, divorce, sexual assault, muggings, the loss of a loved one, or the absence of needs (Dohrenwend & Dohrenwend, 1974). In the opinion of Cohen and colleagues (2019), SLEs differ from other stressors in that they consist of objectively threatening environmental characteristics, and are experienced by most people to different degrees throughout their lives (Cohen et al., 2019). Contextualising current perspectives on SLEs can benefit from a brief trip back to their origin in written word. In Hellenistic times, Plutarch wrote that the end of discord and strife would likely bring about the end of creation and change (Stadter, 1998, p. 270). Whilst the assumption that better outcomes partially rely on difficulty has prevailed. It was not until 1908 that empirical evidence of this type was found in what is known as the Yerkes-Dodson law of optimal performance (Yerkes & Dodson, 1908). This law acknowledges that as stress increases, so too does ability until it reaches a cut-off point where too much stress becomes a problem, resulting in a curvilinear relationship. Despite assertions that this pattern of behaviour encompasses a broader scope of stress experience (Teigen, 1994), this natural law remains largely exclusive to short-term physiological stress (Corbett, 2015). There has only been some empirical evidence within the past decade to support this principle might be extended beyond

short-term stress responses to lasting psychological outcomes (Lazić & Gavrilov-Jerković, 2021, Shakiba et al., 2020, Robertson, 2017, Seery, et al., 2013, Seery et al., 2010).

Evidence for the benefits and disadvantages of SLEs has brought the extent to which this phenomenon can explain responses to stress back into question (Robertson, 2017, Park & Helgeson, 2006, Dohrenwend, 2006, Britt, 2001, and Affleck & Tennen, 1998). Traditionally, research has found SLEs to incrementally increase difficulties in relationships, school and work, as well as vulnerability to future stress (Little & Garber, 1995, Dohrenwend, 1973, Dupéré et al., 2018, Bhagat, 1983, Mayo et al., 2017, Seedat et al., 2009, & McLaughlin et al., 2010). Dienstbier (1989, 1992) theorised simply experiencing some SLEs is likely to increase resilience to future SLEs where an individual has the opportunity to recover. He argues that too many SLEs or none at all make this impossible (Dienstbier, 1989; 1992). Indeed, research also finds SLEs can foster resilience, increase appreciation, improve interpersonal relationships, and contribute to more certainty regarding an individual's values (Park & Helgeson, 2006, Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004, & Updegraff & Taylor, 2000). Moreover, 60-90% of people report positive effects of exposure to SLEs, with individuals often expressing an increased sense of what is important to them (Tedeschi and Calhoun, 1996). Thus, literature on outcomes of SLEs has been conflicting, with one possible explanation pertaining to the amount of experienced SLEs.

Recent research has taken a closer look at the amount of SLEs experienced in relation to good outcomes. In line with existing literature, negative and positive outcomes associated with SLEs were found, however with positive outcomes occurring at both low and medium amounts, in contrast to none, and high amounts (Lazić & Gavrilov-Jerković, 2021, Robertson, 2017, Seery, 2011, and Seery et al., 2010). When acknowledging the intersection of physiological and psychological processes (Posner et al., 2005), Obradovic (2012) has pointed out that many studies indirectly support this curvilinear model of SLEs but studies directly testing it are rare. For example, Shakiba et al. (2020) found that children with a medium amount of SLEs experienced less physiological stress reactivity in comparison to children with a low or high amount of SLEs. Seery et al. (2013) demonstrated a more psychological level impact of SLEs in a controlled cold pressor task by showing that a history of a medium amount of SLEs predicted less perceived unpleasantness and more positive affect following controlled stressors. Findings of this nature are still often compartmentalised as physiological findings, as research design is still rooted in physiological reactivity in its use of controlled stressors despite testing psychological outcomes in the context of SLEs. Therefore, studies must extend these findings further within the scope of psychological experience.

The first study of its kind to demonstrate this was conducted by Seery and colleagues (2010). The curvilinear model of SLEs was tested in conjunction with a variety of psychological indicators of good outcomes following SLEs. When using the sample mean as medium and one standard deviation either side as high or low, a low but crucially non-zero amount of SLEs, were found to significantly predict greater well-being, higher life satisfaction, lower global distress, and lower self-perceived functional impairment than a high or no amount of SLEs (Seery et al., 2010). Resultantly, directly testing and providing empirical evidence for the long since theorised curvilinear model of SLEs in the context of good psychological outcomes. More recent research has since expanded on these findings, demonstrating a more traditional u-shape.

Robertson (2017), found a medium amount of SLEs were found to benefit cognitive functioning and emotional resilience. In providing an explanation, Robertson (2017) likened these good psychological outcomes to the Yerkes-Dodson law of optimal performance (Yerkes & Dodson, 1908) explaining the increased pressure of historical stress affords optimal performance in a longitudinal sense through its lasting impact on arousal levels. This increased capacity for well-being was supported again recently by Lazić and Gavrilov-Jerković (2021). This study indicated this same lasting effect of SLEs on recently experienced SLEs, finding a low and high intensity of perceived negative experiences in childhood subsequently reduces life satisfaction and ability to bounce back following recent SLEs (Lazić and Gavrilov-Jerković, 2021). Therefore, despite research still being in its early stage, theory and data support the widely theorised curvilinear model of SLEs and a variety of good psychological outcomes.

However, there is a trend in studies examining cause and effect relationships with little attention to processes underpinning them (Britt et al., 2001; Park & Helgeson, 2006). A wealth of research suggests PF may be the process at work giving rise to these surface indicators of adjustment (Kashdan, 2010, Hayes et al., 2003, & Baldwin & Baldwin, 2000), as well as a malleable target for improving responses to SLEs (Gloster et al., 2017). Studies so far have not tested the curvilinear model of SLEs while using PF as a marker of good outcomes.

Psychological Flexibility as a Marker of Good Outcomes in the Context of Stressful Life Events

PF is present in all individuals to varying degrees, and a desired treatment outcome in acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) (Gloster, et al., 2017; Hayes, et al., 2006). In ACT, six processes known as cognitive defusion, acceptance, contact with the present moment, observing the self, values, and committed action can be targeted to improve PF. These core processes are interwoven and can be placed within two central aspects PF: the acceptance of present thoughts and feelings and the commitment to behaviours in service of values. While the theoretical roots of PF are beyond the scope of this paper understanding its core principles supplements the understanding of the relationship between SLEs and PF. PF it built on Relational Frame Theory (Barnes-Holmes et al., 2005). This implies that problems arise for individuals where they cannot separate the process of thinking from the products of thinking (Barnes-Holmes et al., 2005). When this problem co-occurs with a high frequency of SLEs this

may provide more reinforcement of the thought "The world is a dangerous place" this then could manifest in experiential avoidance if verbal processes have a unidimensional regulation of behaviour. Therefore, central to PF is the ability to view thoughts and feelings in their deterministic nature and critically evaluate their utility in choosing behaviours which align with values. As a life which clashes with deeply held values lowers life satisfaction (Oishi et al., 2009). Inversely the inability to do so is referred to as PI (Hayes et al., 2003).

PI levels can accurately predict severity of psychopathology (Fisher et al., 2016; Fledderus et al., 2010), which research widely agrees is influenced to a strong degree by SLEs (Benjet et al., 2016). It is not just directly experienced SLEs which show a relationship with PI. In a study on 9-1-1 telecommunicators experiencing indirect SLEs PI was found to have a direct effect on probable post-traumatic stress disorder at 17.6% to 24.6% and probable major depression at 23.9% prevalence (Lilly & Allen, 2015). Moreover, Makriyianis et al. (2019) found that as adverse childhood experiences increased then so too would PI. Interestingly, they also proposed PF would decrease in this same linear fashion, yet this was not supported, and researchers fell short on providing an explanation as to why. A possible explanation for this unclear relationship could be the same curvilinear relationship found in recent studies into other indicators of good outcomes and SLEs. This study did not integrate the curvilinear model into their design and in doing failed to provide an explanation, therefore this study hopes to explore a possible explanation for this discrepancy.

A number of studies have demonstrated a strong and consistent relationship between PF and well-being (Wersebe et al., 2018), resilience (Meyer, 2019), as well as life satisfaction and mental health (Lucas & Moore, 2020). These effects can also be seen in cornerstones of life such as working style (Bond & Flaxman, 2006), coping behaviours (Vowles, 2014; Vowles & McCracken, 2010), romantic relationships, and parenting (Daks & Rogge, 2020), all of which benefit from higher scores in PF. Studies directly analysing the PF and SLEs broadly in

non-clinical populations are presently rare. The majority of studies focusing on particular types of events, or their relationship to mental illnesses (Fonseca et al., 2020, Meyer et al., 2019, Mikaeli et al., 2018, Matos et al., 2017, Jansen et al., 2017, Hulbert-Williams et al., 2015, & Barrows, 2013, and Hussey & Barnes-Holmes, 2012).

Most study's find PF to significantly mitigate the adverse effects of SLEs (Boykin et al., 2020, Fonseca et al., 2020, Fledderus, 2010, and Bond, 2006). Though, in a non-clinical sample SLEs were not largely moderated by higher levels of PF in relation to health behaviours and well-being as researchers had expected (Gloster et al., 2017). Gloster and colleagues (2017) offered the explanation that adverse effects of SLEs comes less from individual events and more from the impact of cumulative events on everyday stress, making the effect more likely to present with everyday stressors. As mentioned previously SLEs do polarise lasting affect through core arousal processes which is likely more apparent in an individual's interaction to everyday stressors (Posner et al., 2005). Though, this may not fully explain the absence of a stronger direct effect. A reason for this may be found in its exclusive usage of the Acceptance and Action Questionnaire - II (Bond et al., 2011) to measure PF. Some researchers suggest this is overly representative of the ability to co-exist with thoughts and feelings and does not place enough emphasis on progress towards values (Kashdan et al., 2020). Due to literature previously highlighting a more concrete idea of what is valued as an outcome of SLE's (Park & Helgeson, 2006; Updegraff & Taylor, 2000), the inclusion of a measure targeting this component may have produced a more direct relationship with SLE's.

In using their own measure targeting subjective values called the personalised PF inventory (PPFI) Kashdan et al. (2020) found PPFI to mitigate the adverse effects of SLEs through moderating a variety of other indicators of adjustment, namely, well-being, emotional experience and regulation, resilience, goal pursuit, and daily functioning. Therefore, it appears accounting more for the values component within the research design has strengthened the

relationship between PF and good outcomes within the context of SLEs specifically. Therefore, paradoxically, SLEs may also provide an advantage to PF. This would make a central component of PF, the commitment to values, theoretically easier with the influence of SLEs. Possibly explaining the lack of a linear relationship found by Makriyianis et al. (2019).

This leaves PF as a marker of good outcomes within the curvilinear model of SLEs particularly interesting when compared to other constructs used previously (Lazić & Gavrilov-Jerković, 2021, Robertson, 2017, and Seery et al., 2010) As the progress towards values central to its definition, has historically been a central outcome within SLE research (Park & George, 2013; Rogers, 1964). Therefore, integrating PF into the curvilinear model of SLEs may explain many previous findings. However, this relationship is unlikely to exist in a vacuum.

Factors Influencing Psychological Flexibility and Stressful Life Events

Personality

Due to the volume of literature finding a strong and consistent relationship between Big Five Personality traits (McCrae & Costa, 2008) and good and bad outcomes, Latzman and Akihiko (2013) have suggested personality be included in studies examining other constructs linked to good outcomes. The strongest relationship between Big Five traits and PI has been found with the trait Neuroticism (Steenhaut et al., 2020; Steenhaut et al., 2019, Bond et al., 2013, Gloster et al., 2011, & Gámez et al., 2011,). Neuroticism is an individual's tendency to negative affect, and has even been found to account for 31% of exposure to SLEs (Plobidis & Frango, 2011). Conscientiousness, and Extroversion, have shown the strongest and most consistent relationship with PF (Steenhaut et al., 2020; Steenhaut et al., 2019, Gloster et al., 2011, Gámez et al., 2011). While that of Agreeableness and Openness are more uncertain (Gloster et al., 2011; Gámez et al., 2011).

Openness, an individual's predisposition towards curiously engaging in a variety of experiences, has been theorised to associate to psychological flexibilities facet of openness to

emotional experiences (Kashdan, 2010). The association found with Agreeableness supports the view that PF manifests first in self compassion which is then extended to others producing better interpersonal relationships (Hayes, 2003). Inversely lower agreeableness predicts SLEs such as divorce (Spikic et al., 2020). Overall, findings are in harmony with the literature finding the traits Conscientiousness and Extraversion to be associated with best outcomes (Turban et al., 2017, Duckworth et al., 2012, Lucas & Diener, 2009, and Roberts et al., 2005). In this way it has been argued that PF may depend on personality configurations (Kashdan, 2010).

However, in contrast to the malleability of PF (Gloster et al., 2017), it's estimated at least 40-60% of the variance in personality can be explained by heritability and is largely unchanging across the lifespan (Power & Pluess, 2015 ; McCrae & Costa, 2008). Therefore, while Personality dimensions may potentially account for some of the range of possible expressions of PF, it is unlikely to depend on Personality. In light of studies finding a curvilinear relationship between SLEs and good outcomes, environmental factors such as SLEs may further explain its precise expression prior to targeted intervention.

Age

As people get older they may be are more likely to have experienced SLE's, though, so far studies have not found strong correlations between age and SLE's (as cited in Carstensen et al., 2020). Findings on the association between age and PF remains mixed (McCracken & Velleman, 2010) McCracken and Velleman (2010) found facets of PF, namely, psychological acceptance and progress towards values to positively correlate with age. However, other study's failed to find a relationship between age and PF (Edwards, 2019; McCraken and Yang, 2006).

Gender

Like Age, Gender is often a background variable included in most studies. While gender may impact the types of SLEs experienced (Kendler et al., 2001), this study is focused on amount of SLEs rather than type, which is less relevant currently. Gender has been shown to relate to PF in a study by Alrefi et al. (2020), with male students having higher PF than female students.

The Present Study

Recent research has determined low and medium levels of SLEs to be better than none and high levels, however, thus far studies have used unexplanatory markers of good outcomes in this curvilinear model (Lazić & Gavrilov-Jerković, 2021, Roberston, 2017, Seery, et al., 2013, & Seery et al., 2010). These same good outcomes are considered to owe their attenuating effects to the process of PF (Cherry et al., 2021, Lucas & Moore, 2020, Meyer, 2019, Wersebe et al., 2018, and Whiting et al., 2017). Researchers have called for studies analysing SLEs to seek out constructs which might explain the mechanisms which underpin these good outcomes (Park & Helgeson, 2006; Britt et al., 2001). Few studies have tested the impact of SLEs on PF, those that have, have failed to find a consistent linear relationship or to explain why. Further, a major outcome of SLE's is a more concrete sense of what is valued (Park & Helgeson, 2006), potentially complimenting progress towards values in PF. Therefore, it appears plausible that some SLEs may contribute to PF. No studies have integrated the curvilinear model of SLEs in exploring PF so far. Therefore, this study aims synthesise contemporary findings in SLEs by exploring their interplay with PF within the curvilinear model. This study aims to identify a counter-intuitive factor which may contribute to PF and determine the importance of Valuing, as well as to control for covariates potentially influencing results. To accomplish these aims constructs of focus will be operationally defined in the following ways.

In adherence to popular literature SLEs will be understood as objectively threatening environmental events (Cohen et al., 2019). As the sample mean has previously been considered a medium point in studies testing the curvilinear model of SLEs (Seery et al., 2010), this study will define no, low, medium, and high amounts of SLEs by calculating the mean and data spread to determine cut-off points. PF is defined as the ability to accept thoughts and feelings and commit to actions in service of an individual's values (Hayes et al., 2009). PI is the inability to do so. Cut off points for each category will be determined as per the mean of scores associated with bad and good outcomes in previous studies (Bond et al., 2011). This study takes values to be subjective freely chosen priorities which are maintained by patterns of activity and environmental cues (Wilson, 2009). Thus, higher degrees of Valuing will be understood as an individual's success in progressing towards that which they subjectively value. Lastly, personality will be viewed as consistent and stable characteristics of an individual which research suggests may be largely heritable (Power & Pluess, 2015; Costa & McCrae, 1987).

Thus, owing to the research reviewed the following hypothesis will be pursued:

- (1) A low to medium amount of experienced Stressful Life Events will add predictive utility to Psychological Flexibility such that a curvilinear model presents.
- (2) Controlling for Big Five Personality traits, Age, and Gender will increase the predictive utility of a low to medium amount of experienced Stressful Life Events on Psychological Flexibility such that a curvilinear model presents.
- (3) Controlling for Valuing will decrease the predictive utility of a low to medium amounts of experienced Stressful Life Events on Psychological Flexibility such that a curvilinear model presents.

Methodology

Participants

The sample consisted of 298 participants. 178 females and 120 males, with a mean age of 29.80 years (SD = 10.53), ranging from ages 18-72. Of the sample, 59.4% were Psychologically Flexible and 40.6% were Psychologically Inflexible. The mean amount of SLEs experienced was 10.19 (SD = 8.6). The initial sample consisted of 308 participants; 8 were omitted due to not specifying their gender, age, or a lack of generalisability. To reduce the likelihood of a Type 1 error, a G*Power: Statistical Power Analysis (Faul et al., 2009) for Multiple Hierarchical Binary Logistic Regression was conducted to determine a statistically powerful sample size. Results indicated a sample of 121 or more would have a 95% chance of an *R*-squared value significantly different from zero.

The recruitment technique was opportunistic snowball sampling. Links to the study were distributed across social media platforms; Twitter, Reddit, Instagram, and Facebook, and participants were invited to share the study to anyone they believed may be eligible to take part. Given that the sample consisted of web-users, it is advised that results be interpreted in light of this and caution is advised in extrapolating to the general population.

Measures

Demographic Questionnaire

The demographic questionnaire was created by the researcher (see Appendix B). This first asked participants to indicate their gender which included options 'Female', 'Male', 'Prefer not to say', and 'Other' which allowed users to input a response manually. The inclusion of gender was primarily to determine the generalisability of findings. Second, participants were also asked to indicate their age in a text box.

The Life Stressor Checklist - Revised (Adjusted)

The Life Stressor Checklist - Revised (LSC-R; Wolfe et al., 1997) (see Appendix D), is a 30 item self-report measure which gathers information relating to stressful lifetime events. This measure contains three scoring options. Option 1 is scored by assigning a single point to each 30 stressful events which a participant has experienced. This was adjusted in removing three items in keeping with the ethical approval of this study; these were items 22, 25, and 27 which refer to childhood sexual abuse and in allowing participants to indicate if any of the 27 items included was experienced more than once with the inclusion of twice, or three times or more. As it presents in this study 27 questions each refer to an SLE. Answers; 'No'.'Once' and Twice, Three times or more' have a single point assigned to each occurrence. With the adjustment scores will fall within a maximum of 81. An example of a question is as follows: 'Has someone close to you died (do NOT include those who died suddenly or unexpectedly)?. The Life Stressor Checklist - Revised, Option 1, has achieved good levels of reliability and validity in studies (Langford et al., 2017; Norris & Hamblen, 2004). In contrast other measures of experienced stressful events have not gained as high reliability and validity, are still in development, or were not designed in the form necessary for the current study (see STRAIN, Slavich & Shields, 2018; and CLAM, Carstensen et al., 2020). LSC-R (Adjusted) showed very good internal consistency in the current sample ($\alpha = .82$).

The Big Five Inventory - Short

The Big Five Inventory - Short (BFI-S; Lang et al., 2011) (see Appendix C), is a 15 item self-report version of The Big Five Inventory (John et al., 1991) based on the NEO theory of Personality developed by Costa & McCrae (1987). This measure of Personality is scored on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 to 5 with 1 representing strong disagreement and 5 with strong agreement with each statement presented. Four of 15 statements cover 5 dimensions of TBF-S. Which indicated good internal consistency in the current sample. These were Openness ($\alpha = .77$), Conscientiousness ($\alpha = .74$), Extraversion ($\alpha = .63$), Agreeableness ($\alpha = .72$), and

Neuroticism ($\alpha = .81$). Higher scores in each dimension are determined by a single point for each higher number scored on the 5-point Likert scale making maximum scores for each dimension 20. Items 3, 6, 10, and 14 are reverse coded. An example of a statement presented for Openness is as follows: 'I am a person who... is fascinated by art, music, or literature.' The Big Five Inventory - Short has demonstrated good reliability but offers less detailed estimations of The Big Five Inventory traits in comparison to other measures due to its brevity, as indicated by a five-year retest stability study (Lang et al., 2011). As Personality is not a variable of focus, rather a covariate, this has been considered appropriate for this design. Caution will be taken in the interpretation of results.

The Acceptance and Action Questionnaire - Revised

The Acceptance and Action Questionnaire - Revised (AAQ-2; Bond et al., 2011) (see Appendix E), is a 7 item self-report measure of Experiential Avoidance or PI; and the most widely used measure of PF. Higher scores indicate higher Experiential Avoidance and thus indicate lower levels of PF. AAQ-2 presents statements which users can rate on a 7-point Likert scale with 1 indicating 'never true' and 7 indicating 'always true' with maximum scores of 49. Within the current analysis questions were coded from 0-6 for comparison with the Valuing Questionnaire (Smout et al., 2014). An example of a statement presented in this measure is as follows: 'My painful memories prevent me from having a fulfilling life'. The Acceptance and Action Questionnaire - Revised has shown good reliability and validity with a mean alpha coefficient of .84 (.78–.88), and good test-retest reliability at .81 and .79 with results also indicating good concurrent and discriminant validity (Bond et al., 2011). The internal consistency for the current sample was excellent ($\alpha = .95$).

The Valuing Questionnaire

The Valuing Questionnaire (VQ; Smout et al., 2014) (see Appendix F), is a 10 item self-report measure of a person's ability to progress towards valued living, another key process

of PF which has been argued to be less represented by AAQ-2 (Bond et al., 2011) This is a two-factor measure; Factor 1 statements refer to a user's progress towards valued living and factor 2 statements refer to a user's obstruction to valued living. Statements 3, 4, 5, 7, and 9 relate to factor 1, while statements 1, 2, 6, 8, and 10 relate to factor 2. The sum of progress scores are subtracted from the sum of obstruction scores making the range encompass minus figures. An example of a statement from factor 1 is as follows: 'I continued to get better at being the kind of person I want to be'. An example of a statement for factor 2 is as follows: 'When things didn't go according to plan, I gave up easily'. The VQ has demonstrated good reliability and validity in both clinical and nonclinical populations, as well as concurrent validity with The Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS) and The Valued Living Questionnaire (VLQ). The internal consistency for progress scores was slightly lower than is widely considered acceptable ($\alpha = .67$), this will be considered when analysing results. Iternal consistency of obstruction scores was good ($\alpha = .86$).

Design

The present study employed a quantitative cross-sectional approach to data collection. A between participants design was used in conjunction to a Multiple Hierarchical Binary Logistic Regression in SPSS to test hypotheses. For Model 1/ Hypothesis 1; the predictor variable was SLEs, while PF was the dependent variable. For Model 2/ Hypothesis 2; Big Five Personality traits, age, and gender were included as covariates. Lastly, Model 3/ Hypothesis 3; added Valuing to determine its influence as a predictor

Procedure

An ethics and proposal form was submitted to the National College of Ireland's Ethics Committee. This study was approved and is in line with the NCI Ethical Guidelines and Procedures for Research involving Human Participants as well as the Psychological Society of Ireland Code of Professional Ethics (2019). Due to this study's interest in amounts of SLEs experienced, care was taken to provide contact details for support services at appropriate points throughout the questionnaire, such as; the information sheet, before and after the questionnaire section relating to SLEs, and finally on the debriefing page.

This questionnaire was designed using Google Forms for use by typically developing adults over 18. The first page contained an information and consent form (see Appendix A), outlining the nature of the study and their right to withdraw without penalty and that it was not possible to withdraw anonymised data following submission. Participants selected a box confirming they read and understood the information sheet and were over 18. As participants selected continue, they were presented the measures. First demographic information, followed by the BFI-S, then the LSC-R, and finally the AAQ-2 and the VQ. Questions within sections were shuffled in an attempt to reduce the effects of fatigue. Then a debriefing page gave the option to submit data. Following submission participants were thanked and invited to distribute the questionnaire to anyone over the age of 18.

This questionnaire was piloted to four participants to ensure there were no issues and to determine the average length of time it took to complete. The average completion time was calculated to be 7 minutes. This questionnaire was then distributed across social media platforms, including Twitter, Reddit, Instagram, and Facebook. Then a Multiple Hierarchical Binary Logistic Regression was conducted to test Hypotheses.

Results

An alpha level of .05 has been used for all analysis conducted as part of this study. Descriptive statistics for the current sample are outlined below, followed by inferential statistics for the hypotheses in question which have been tested using a Multiple Hierarchical Binary Logistic Regression.

Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics for categorical variables are found in Table 1 and continuous variables are found in Table 2 below.

Table 1

Descriptive statistics for all categorical variables, $N = 29$	98
--	----

Variable	Frequency	Valid %
Gender		
Female	178	59.7
Male	120	40.3
Psychological Flexibility		
Psychological Flexibility	177	59.4
Psychological Inflexibility	121	40.6
SLE Levels		
None	32	10.7
Low	56	18.8
Medium	134	45.0
High	76	25.5

Table 2

Variable	M [95% CI]	SD	Range
Age	29.80 [28.60-31.00]	10.53	18-72
Valuing	10.89 [9.77-12.02]	9.89	-13-27
Personality			
Openness	8.68 [10.35-11.03]	3.01	3-15
Conscientiousness	10.03 [9.69-10.36]	2.91	3-15
Extraversion	9.12 [8.82-9.42]	2.63	3-15
Agreeableness	10.68 [10.39-10.98]	2.62	3-15
Neuroticism	8.68 [8.34-9.03]	3.0	3-15

Descriptive statistics for all continuous variables, N = 298

PF had a significant (p < .05) Kolmogorov-Smirnov, and inspection of this histogram indicated it was negatively skewed indicating a non-normal distribution with more people being Psychologically Flexible. A non-significant result for the Kolmogorov-Smirnov statistic was found for each of the other variables included in the study, indicating the majority of the data was normally distributed. Prior to the categorisation of SLEs, continuous SLE scores were non-normally distributed with a significant (p < .05) Kolmogorov-Smirnov, inspection of this histogram indicated data was negatively skewed making most individuals within this data set having fewer SLEs. SLEs were categorised using the mean of the sample as the central medium point, then the spread of data was then converted to percentiles, which treated below 25% as low, above 75% as high, and all scores between were treated as medium. After converting to categorical data there was no longer a significant Kolmogorov-Smirnov statistic.

Inferential Statistics

A Multiple Hierarchical Binary Logistic Regression was conducted on the likelihood of variables predicting PF. The order of presentation is as follows: Model 1 tested hypothesis 1. Model 2 tested hypothesis 2. Model 3 tested hypothesis 3. Results for each model can be found in Tables 3, 4, and 5 are below.

Table 3

Multiple Hierarchical Binary Logistic Regression: Model 1 Predicting Psychological

Flexibility

Measure	В	SE	Wald	OR	Lower 95%	Upper 95%
					CI	CI
SLE Levels						
None			49.99	***		
Low	-2.95	1.04	8.00	.05**	.00	.40
Medium	1.78	.40	19.62	5.94***	2.70	13.07
High	1.68	.31	29.00	5.38***	2.91	9.93

Note: Statistical significance is presented as * p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001. B = Beta, SE = Standard Error, OR= Odds Ratio.

Model 1 explained 25.9% of the variance in PF (Omnibus test $\chi 2(3, N = 298) = 89.42$, p < .001; Hosmer-Lemeshow $\chi 2(2, N = 298) = .00$, p = 1.00). Each level of SLEs (none, low, medium, and high) were included as possible predictors of PF. Results for each level were statistically significant; however, medium levels were most predictive of PF, followed by high levels. Neuroticism and none and low levels of SLEs predicted PI significantly.

Table 4

Multiple Hierarchical Binary Logistic Regression: Model 2 Predicting Psychological Flexibility

Measure	В	SE	Wald	OR	Lower	Upper
					95% CI	95% CI
SLE Levels						
None			18.36	***		
Low	-1.79	1.23	2.12	.66	.01	1.86
Medium	1.75	.66	6.94	5.79**	1.56	21.37
High	1.53	.48	9.91	4.62**	1.78	11.98
Personality						
Openness	.19	.08	5.47	1.21	1.03	1.43
Conscientiousness	.14	.08	2.69	1.15	1.97	1.37
Extroversion	.10	.08	1.41	1.10	.93	1.30
Agreeableness	00	.08	.00	.99	.83	1.18
Neuroticism	63	.09	45.16	.52***	.43	.63
Age	.02	.01	1.65	1.02	.98	1.06
Gender (Ref: female)	30	.44	.46	.73	.30	1.76

Note: Statistical significance is presented as * p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001. B = Beta, SE = Standard Error, OR= Odds Ratio.

Model 2 explained 52.1% of the variance in PF (Omnibus test $\chi 2(10, N = 298) =$ 219.144, p < .001; Hosmer-Lemeshow $\chi 2(8, N = 298) = 7.49$, p = .484). When controlling of covariates Personality, Age, and Gender. Medium levels of SLEs became more predictive compared to high levels of PF. None levels and Neuroticism remained significantly predictive of PI, however, low levels changed direction now predicting PF but no longer significantly.

Table 5

Multiple Hierarchical Binary Logistic Regression: Model 3 Predicting Psychological Flexibility

Measure	В	SE	Wald	OR	Lower	Upper
					95% CI	95% CI
SLE Levels						
None			12.04	**		
Low	.32	1.40	.05	1.37	.08	21.47
Medium	2.09	.71	8.63	8.09**	2.00	32.63
High	1.53	.52	8.70	4.64**	1.67	12.89
Personality						
Openness	.14	.09	2.65	1.16	.97	1.38
Conscientiousness	.02	.10	.04	1.02	.83	1.24
Extroversion	.02	.09	.07	1.02	.85	1.22
Agreeableness	16	.10	2.41	1.20	.69	1.04
Neuroticism	51	.10	26.35	.59***	.48	.72
Age	.02	.02	1.58	1.02	.98	1.06
Gender (ref: female)	21	.48	.19	.80	.31	2.08
Valuing	.19	.04	20.71	1.21***	1.11	1.32

 $\overline{Note:}$ Statistical significance is presented as * p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001. B = Beta, SE = Standard Error, OR= Odds Ratio.

Model 3 explained 55.9% of the variance in PF and the model showed good goodness of fit (Omnibus test $\chi 2(11, N = 298) = 243.85, p < .001$; Hosmer-Lemeshow $\chi 2(8, N = 298) = 4.42, p = .817$). When controlling for covariates including Valuing, medium levels of SLEs became significantly more predictive again of PF. None levels of SLEs and Neuroticism significantly predicted PI.

Discussion

This study introduced to the emerging curvilinear model within SLE research a marker of good outcomes not previously investigated, that of PF. This aimed to synthesise findings from contemporary studies indicating better outcomes occurring at low and medium levels, and; literature finding PF brings these same good outcomes about. There was an identified gap in the literature as research suggests PF may explain the process which gives rise to nonexplanatory constructs previously found in the curvilinear model of SLEs. Therefore, this study importantly attempts to explain the process which underlies constructs previously found in this model by comparing the extent to which it behaves equivalently within the model. Explanations for the mechanism underlying existing good outcomes in the context of SLEs has been called for by researchers in this area (Park & Helgeson, 2006; Britt et al., 2001). Thus, this study identified a new, counter-intuitive factor which may contribute to PF.

Hypothesis 1 stated low and medium amounts of SLEs would predict PF. Model 1 indicated prior to controlling for Personality, Age, Gender, and Valuing, all levels of SLEs were statistically significant. As hypothesised medium levels of SLEs were the strongest predictor of PF. Unexpectedly, high levels followed closely while none and low levels of SLEs only predicted PI. Therefore, hypothesis 1 was partially upheld in that medium levels of SLE's predicted PF. Hypothesis 2 then stated controlling for Personality, Age, and Gender would increase this relationship. Indeed, medium levels of SLEs did increase in comparison to other levels. Each remained significant except low levels which changed direction and insignificantly predicted PF. Additionally, results of this analysis did not show any significant predictive relationship between Age and Gender in relation to PF. Of Personality, only Neuroticism had a significant relationship predicting PI. Therefore, hypothesis 2 has been partially upheld in that controlling for Personality, Age, and Gender increased the predictive strength of medium levels of SLE's on PF. Lastly, hypothesis 3 proposed controlling for Valuing would decrease

the predictive utility of low to medium levels of SLEs on PF. However, contrary to expectation medium levels of SLEs became significantly more predictive again. Thus, hypothesis 3 was not supported. Central points of discussion here pertain to the curvilinear model of SLEs and PF, the influence of Personality or lack thereof, and the likelihood of openness to emotional experience rather than Valuing being more important within this context.

Only recently have studies begun to find empirical evidence to extend the curvilinear model of SLEs to good psychological outcomes (Lazić & Gavrilov-Jerković, 2021, Roberston, 2017, Seery, et al., 2013, & Seery et al., 2010). Fittingly, this has co-occurred with reform which has seen psychology approach psychopathology as points along a affective spectrum maintained by core arousal processes common to all (Posner et al., 2005). Findings relating to the curvilinear model of SLE's are in both theoretical and empirical harmony with developments in this field. This study's findings are most consistent with contemporary research finding medium levels of SLEs in the curvilinear model to predict good psychological outcomes such as emotional resilience and cognitive functioning (Lazić & Gavrilov-Jerković, 2021; Robertson, 2017). These findings are to some extent consistent with Seery et al. (2010) who found good outcomes all associated with lower but a non-zero amount of SLEs. Seery et al. (2010) used the mean as a medium point with one standard deviation either side representing high and low. In contrast the current study grouped sections to encompass a larger medium point, making similarities between these studies findings more apparent than labelling and design imply. Thus, this study's findings are in accordance with current literature on the curvilinear model of SLE's and good psychological outcomes.

This study also extends on previous studies by adding more practical application. While previous studies likely intended to explore the nature of phenomena, one wrongly extrapolated implication may be seeking out more SLEs where SLEs are low is a path to better outcomes. In much the same way as the curvilinear model is treated in sport (Sodhi et al., 2016). The crucial differences must be acknowledged. If not consciously appraised, SLEs can have a unidimensional dictation of future behaviours in their maintenance of negative internal narratives (Denham, 2008). Therefore, much more than momentary stress levels these must be approached with more caution within the context of deriving benefits. Corbett (2015) showed employers misinterpreting findings of this nature attempted to increase employee psychological stress levels without this in mind and reduced work performance significantly. While the majority of the current samples SLE's were low, overall stress levels are generally higher than they should be (Seery et al., 2010). Therefore, attempting to access benefits via increasing SLEs is unlikely to be beneficial. Instead, the present study has identified PF to occur at the same rate as previous good outcomes. Thus, as an accessible and learnable skill (Hayes et al., 2003) these benefits can be accessed without any need to increase exposure to SLEs.

Age, Gender, and Personality did not significantly predict PF. Rather, as hypothesised, controlling for them increased the predictive utility of a medium amount of SLE's. In agreement with the literature, Neuroticism significantly predicted PI (Ploubidis, & Frangou, (2011). A lack of significant predictive association found in relation to other variables is in accordance with results reported by Seery et al. (2010) who also did not find a significant effect of individual differences in testing the curvilinear model. In response to the proposition that PF depends to some extent on personality (Kashdan, 2010). It was argued that as PF is malleable, it would be unlikely to depend largely on a more static construct. The results of this dataset analysis provide more support for the present argument stating they are more influenced by environmental cues such as a medium level of SLE's. However, the BFI-Short is a brief measure of Big Five Personality traits without their subcomponents. This was considered appropriate as this study was simply using it as a covariate, however, a more detailed analysis

may shed more light on the extent to which it's occurrence depends on personality (Kashdan, 2010).

Lastly, contrary to expectations, Valuing was not found to contribute to the predictive utility of SLEs on PF. Instead, removing it's effects increased the predictive strength of a medium amount of SLEs. Given the volume of literature supporting a more certain idea of what an individual values is an outcome of SLEs hypothesis 3 was expected to add further explanatory value. Though, one explanation could pertain to the Cronbach's Alpha for Valuing being weaker than other measures within this study. Secondly, researchers have criticised current measures of Valuing as being unclear and inaccurately grasping the intended concept (Barney et al., 2019; Plumb et al., 2009). However, an alternative explanation can be found in further analysis of the results. Valuing predicted PF significantly however with an odds ratio of 1.21 making a 77% difference in these two measures. Indicating the difference between these measures was what was most influenced by medium levels of SLEs. PF was measured using the AAQ-2 (Bond et al., 2011) which places emphasis on acceptance and openness to emotional experiences in contrast to the progress towards values which was supplemented in this study using the VQ (Smout et al., 2014) measuring Valuing. Therefore, items within the AAQ-2 pertaining to emotional acceptance and openness appear to be significantly more statistically relevant within the context of the curvilinear model of SLEs within the current dataset. Perhaps individuals rely on the ability to accept the presence of destructive thoughts rather than the emotional significance of subjectively constructed value systems to drive behaviours within this context.

Implications

The Implications of this study present on two levels, through the support of theoretical development. The results offer a practical extension to existing studies in identifying an explanatory marker of good outcomes to occur at a medium levels within the curvilinear model

as unexplanatory markers have previously done (Lazić & Gavrilov-Jerković, 2021, Roberston, 2017, Seery, et al., 2013, & Seery et al., 2010). A medium amount of experienced SLEs was most predictive of PF, even when compared to a facet of PF: the progress towards values. The implications here is that a medium level of SLEs may contribute to the ability to be open to and non-judgemental of internal experiences such that thoughts and feelings do not have a unidimensional clutch on behaviours. Though a medium level of SLEs appear to contribute to this ability and the good outcomes it is associated with, PF is a process which can be learned therefore where deliberate action is taken these benefits may be accessed by individuals irrespective of level of SLEs experienced.

Ultimately, these findings contribute to the growing body of empirical studies attempting to extend the Yerkes-Dodson Law to encompass long term psychological outcomes in the context of SLEs. These results support existing studies finding the curvilinear nature of core arousal processes which become apparent in physiological stress responses, also exists in long term psychological stress responses (Lazić & Gavrilov-Jerković, 2021, Roberston, 2017, Seery, et al., 2013, & Seery et al., 2010). This is in harmony with recent developments within psychology acknowledging affective states as points on a spectrum. Overall, in extending the curvilinear model to PF, it appears despite the fact bad things do most commonly happen to a medium degree, this attribute of reality facilitates better outcomes. But these better outcomes can also be deliberately accessed through improving PF.

Limitations and Future Research

Whilst a strength of the present study is it has synthesised empirically and theoretically relevant, though explicitly isolated, recent empirical findings, it's limitations must also be considered. This study adjusted the LSC-R (Smout et al., 2014) to allow participants to give greater detail in relation to the amount of occurrences of each SLE and removed items relating to childhood sexual abuse in keeping with the ethical approval of the study. Thus, while

increasing the response amount can technically only increase its validity, this measure cannot claim the validation of other studies. This measure did not account for subjective appraisals, differences in event impact, and even though frequencies were extended to three times or more this was still a limit. Measures have attempted to fill these gaps to some degree in integrating subjective appraisals and different event impacts (see Dohrenwend, 2006). Knowledge regarding the precise differences is in development, potentially contributing to coding inaccuracies. Therefore this study remained within the scope of what is already understood with more certainty. Should future research solidify coding schemes, socially relevant SLEs may produce a stronger curvilinear relationship in comparison to those like natural disasters, due to having a more prevailing impact (Keller et al., 2007; Kendler et al., 2001).

It is possible a better way exists to determine categories, low, medium, and high. While the mean and percentiles based on the sample data spread was used here, other approaches such as determining a low, medium, and high point within the general population may be more accurate. However, statistics on this are constantly evolving (Tibubos et al., 2020; Benjet, 2016).

Lastly, the possible influence of other variables must be emphasised. The measurement of Big Five Personality traits was short form and therefore offered rougher estimations of traits. Additionally, variables not included in this study may potentially influencing the results. This research did not take into account participants protective factors or how it may have impacted their psychological resources. Similarly, as this study was distributed to the general population, psychopathology was not accounted for and therefore there is no way to determine if any individuals have undergone acceptance-based therapies in the past which would have improved their PF scores. However, as problems usually present for individuals where SLEs are high, and these scores had less PF so it is unlikely this had an influence on the results. Future studies should include detailed measures of personality and should take into account protective factors and psychopathology to better determine the influence of different levels of SLEs on PF.

Conclusion

This analysis showed controlling for additional variables significantly and incrementally increased the predictive utility of medium levels of SLE's on PF. Despite this providing more support than was expected for the curvilinear relationship, as Hypothesis 1 and 2 conservatively included low levels (in comparison to none) these hypotheses can only be partially upheld. Hypothesis 3 was not supported as controlling for Valuing did not decrease the predictive utility of SLE's on PF, rather it increased it. This unexpected finding indicates the ability to coexist with the presence of destructive thoughts was significantly more statistical relevance within the context of SLEs than an individual's progress towards values. These results offer explanation of the process underpinning previous findings into the curvilinear model of SLEs and good outcomes as well as identifying a factor contributing to PF. In light of this, as Teigen (1994), Robertson (2017), and many others have proposed, the Yerkes-Dodson law may indeed be a principle of many human functions.

References

- Affleck, G., & Tennen, H. (1996). Construing benefits from adversity: Adaptational significance and dispositional underpinnings. *Journal of Personality*, 64(4), 899-922.
- Alrefi, A., Nurihsan, J., Rusmana, N., & Nurhudaya, N. (2020, March). Student's Psychological Flexibility Based on Gender Differences in Indonesia. In *International Conference on Elementary Education* (Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 42-49).
- Baldwin, J. D. & Baldwin, J. I. (2000). Behavior Principles in Everyday Life (4th Edition). New York, NY: Pearson.
- Barnes-Holmes, D., Rodríguez Valverde, M., & Whelan, R. (2005). The theory of relational frames and the experimental analysis of language aend cognition. Latin American Journal of Psychology, 37, 255-275. [Relational Frame Theory and the experimental analysis of language and cognition. Latinamerican Journal of Psychology, 37, 255-275]
- Barney, J. L., Lillis, J., Haynos, A. F., Forman, E., & Juarascio, A. S. (2019). Assessing the valuing process in Acceptance and Commitment Therapy: Experts' review of the current status and recommendations for future measure development. Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science, 12, 225-233.
- Benjet, C., Bromet, E., Karam, E. G., Kessler, R. C., McLaughlin, K. A., Ruscio, A. M., Shahly, V., Stein, D. J., Petukhova, M., Hill, E., Alonso, J., Atwoli, L., Bunting, B., Bruffaerts, R., Caldas-de-Almeida, J. M., de Girolamo, G., Florescu, S., Gureje, O., Huang, Y., Lepine, J. P., ...Koenen, K. C. (2016). The epidemiology of traumatic event exposure worldwide: results from the World Mental Health Survey Consortium. *Psychological medicine*, *46*(2), 327–343. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291715001981
- Bhagat, R. S. (1983). Effects of stressful life events on individual performance effectiveness and work adjustment processes within organizational settings: A research model. Academy of Management Review, 8(4), 660-671.

- Bond, F. W., Hayes, S. C., Baer, R. A., Carpenter, K. M., Guenole, N., Orcutt, H. K., Waltz, T., & Zettle, R. D. (2011). Preliminary psychometric properties of the Acceptance and Action Questionnaire – II: A revised measure of psychological inflexibility and experiential avoidance. Behavior Therapy, 42, 676–688.
- Bond, F. W., & Flaxman, P. E. (2006). The ability of Psychological Flexibility and job control to predict learning, job performance, and mental health. *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*, *26*(1-2), 113-130.
- Bond, F. W., Lloyd, J., & Guenole, N. (2013). The work-related acceptance and action questionnaire: Initial psychometric findings and their implications for measuring Psychological Flexibility in specific contexts. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 86(3), 331-347.
- Boykin, D. M., Anyanwu, J., Calvin, K., & Orcutt, H. K. (2020). The moderating effect of Psychological Flexibility on event centrality in determining trauma outcomes. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, 12(2), 193.
- Britt, T. W., Adler, A. B., & Bartone, P. T. (2001). Deriving benefits from stressful events: The role of engagement in meaningful work and hardiness. *Journal of occupational health psychology*, 6(1), 53.
- Carstensen, T., Ørnbøl, E., Fink, P., Jørgensen, T., Dantoft, T. M., Madsen, A. L., Buhmann, C., Eplov,
 L. F., & Frostholm, L. (2020). Adverse life events in the general population a validation of
 the cumulative lifetime adversity measure. *European journal of psychotraumatology*, *11*(1),
 1717824. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2020.1717824</u>
- Cherry, K. M., Vander Hoeven, E., Patterson, T. S., & Lumley, M. N. (2021). Defining and measuring "Psychological Flexibility": A narrative scoping review of diverse flexibility and rigidity constructs and perspectives. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 101973.
- Cho, D., & Park, C. L. (2013). Growth following trauma: Overview and current status. *Terapia* psicológica, 1(1), 69-79.

- Classen, C., Nevo, R., Koopman, C., Nevill-Manning, K., Gore-Felton, C., Rose, D. S., & Spiegel, D. (2002). Recent stressful life events, sexual revictimization, and their relationship with traumatic stress symptoms among women sexually abused in childhood. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 17, 1274–1290. doi:10.1177/088626002237856
- Cohen, S., Murphy, M., & Prather, A. A. (2019). Ten Surprising Facts About Stressful Life Events and Disease Risk. *Annual review of psychology*, 70, 577–597. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevpsych-010418-102857</u>
- Corbett, M. (2015). From law to folklore: work stress and the Yerkes-Dodson Law. Journal of Managerial Psychology.
- Daks, J. S., & Rogge, R. D. (2020). Examining the correlates of Psychological Flexibility in romantic relationship and family dynamics: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*.
- Denham, A. R. (2008). Rethinking historical trauma: Narratives of resilience. *Transcultural psychiatry*, 45(3), 391-414.
- Dienstbier, R. A. (1989). Arousal and physiological toughness: Implications for mental and physical health. Psychological Review, 96, 84–100. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.96.1.84
- Dienstbier, R. A. (1992). Mutual impacts of toughening on crises and losses. In L. Montada, S.-H.Filipp, & M. J. Lerner (Eds.), Life crises and experiences of loss in adulthood (pp. 367–384).Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum
- Dohrenwend, B. P. (2006). Inventorying stressful life events as risk factors for psychopathology: Toward resolution of the problem of intracategory variability. Psychological Bulletin, 132, 477–495. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.132.3.477
- Dohrenwend, B. S. (1973). Social status and stressful life events. *Journal of Personality and social psychology*, 28(2), 225.
- Dohrenwend, B. S., & Dohrenwend, B. P. (1974). Stressful life events: Their nature and effects. John Wiley & Sons.

- Duckworth, A. L., Weir, D. R., Tsukayama, E., & Kwok, D. (2012). Who does well in life?
 Conscientious adults excel in both objective and subjective success. *Frontiers in psychology*, 3, 356.
- Dupéré, V., Dion, E., Leventhal, T., Archambault, I., Crosnoe, R., & Janosz, M. (2018). High school dropout in proximal context: The triggering role of stressful life events. *Child development*, 89(2), e107-e122.
- Edwards, D. J. (2019). Age, Pain Intensity, Values-Discrepancy, and Mindfulness as Predictors for Mental Health and Cognitive Fusion: Hierarchical Regressions With Mediation Analysis. *Frontiers in psychology* vol. 10 517. 7, doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00517
- Edwards, V. J., Holden, G. W., Felitti, V. J., & Anda, R. F. (2003). Relationship between multiple forms of childhood maltreatment and adult mental health in community respondents: Results from the Adverse Childhood Experiences Study. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 160, 1453–1460. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.160.8.1453
- Emery, R. E., & Laumann-Billings, L. (1998). An overview of the nature, causes, and consequences of abusive family relationships: Toward differentiating maltreatment and violence. *American Psychologist*, 53, 121–135. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.53.2.121
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, *41*, 1149-1160.
- Fischer, T. D., Smout, M. F., & Delfabbro, P. H. (2016). The relationship between Psychological Flexibility, early maladaptive schemas, perceived parenting and psychopathology. *Journal of contextual behavioral science*, 5(3), 169-177.
- Fledderus, M., Bohlmeijer, E. T., Smit, F., & Westerhof, G. J. (2010). Mental health promotion as a new goal in public mental health care: A randomized controlled trial of an intervention enhancing Psychological Flexibility. *American journal of public health*, 100(12), 2372-2372.

- Fonseca, S., Trindade, I. A., Mendes, A. L., & Ferreira, C. (2020). The buffer role of Psychological Flexibility against the impact of major life events on depression symptoms. *Clinical Psychologist*, 24(1), 82-90.
- Gámez, W., Chmielewski, M., Kotov, R., Ruggero, C., & Watson, D. (2011). Development of a measure of experiential avoidance: The Multidimensional Experiential Avoidance Questionnaire. Psychological Assessment, 23, 692–713.
- Gloster, A. T., Meyer, A. H., & Lieb, R. (2017). Psychological Flexibility as a malleable public health target: Evidence from a representative sample. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 6(2), 166-171.
- Hayes, S. C., Luoma, J. B., Bond, F. W., Masuda, A., & Lillis, J. (2006). Acceptance and commitment therapy: Model, processes and outcomes. *Behaviour research and therapy*, *44*(1), 1-25.
- Hayes, S. C., Pistorello, J., & Levin, M. E. (2012). Acceptance and commitment therapy as a unified model of behavior change. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *40*(7), 976-1002.
- Hayes, S. C., Strosahl, K. D., & Wilson, K. G. (2009). Acceptance and commitment therapy.Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Hayes, S. C., Villatte, M., Levin, M., & Hildebrandt, M. (2011). Open, aware, and active: Contextual approaches as an emerging trend in the behavioral and cognitive therapies. *Annual review of clinical psychology*, 7.
- Hjemdal, O., Friborg, O., Stiles, T. C., Rosenvinge, J. H., & Martinussen, M. (2006). Resilience predicting psychiatric symptoms: A prospective study of protective factors and their role in adjustment to stressful life events. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy: An International Journal of Theory & Practice*, 13(3), 194-201.
- Horowitz, M., Wilner, N., & Alvarez, W. (1979). Impact of Event Scale: A measure of subjective stress. *Psychosomatic medicine*, *41*(3), 209-218.

- Hulbert-Williams, N. J., Storey, L., & Wilson, K. G. (2015). Psychological interventions for patients with cancer: Psychological Flexibility and the potential utility of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy. *European journal of cancer care*, 24(1), 15-27.
- Hussey, I., & Barnes-Holmes, D. (2012). The implicit relational assessment procedure as a measure of implicit depression and the role of Psychological Flexibility. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, 19(4), 573-582.
- John, O. P., Donahue, E. M., & Kentle, R. L. (1991). Big five inventory. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*.
- Kashdan, T. B., & Rottenberg, J. (2010). Psychological Flexibility as a fundamental aspect of health. *Clinical psychology review*, *30*(7), 865-878.
- Kashdan, T. B., Disabato, D. J., Goodman, F. R., Doorley, J. D., & McKnight, P. E. (2020). Understanding Psychological Flexibility: A multimethod exploration of pursuing valued goals despite the presence of distress. *Psychological Assessment*, 32(9), 829.
- Keller, M. C., Neale, M. C., & Kendler, K. S. (2007). Association of different adverse life events with distinct patterns of depressive symptoms. American Journal of Psychiatry, 164, 1521-1529. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.06091564
- Kendler, K. S., Thornton, L. M., & Prescott, C. A. (2001). Gender differences in the rates of exposure to stressful life events and sensitivity to their depressogenic effects. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 158(4), 587-593.
- Lang, F. R., John, D., Luedtke, O., Schupp, J., & Wagner, G. G. (2011). Short assessment of the Big Five: robust across survey methods except telephone interviewing. *Behaviour Research Methods*, 43, 548-567.
- Latzman, Robert D.; Masuda, Akihiko (2013). Examining mindfulness and psychological inflexibility within the framework of Big Five personality. Personality and Individual Differences, 55(2), 129–134. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2013.02.019

- Langford, D. J., Cooper, B., Paul, S., Humphreys, J., Keagy, C., Conley, Y. P., Hammer, M. J., Levine, J. D., Wright, F., Melisko, M., Miaskowski, C., & Dunn, L. B. (2017). Evaluation of coping as a mediator of the relationship between stressful life events and cancer-related distress. *Health psychology : official journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association*, 36(12), 1147–1160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000524</u>
- Lazić, M., Jovanović, V., & Gavrilov-Jerković, V. (2021). The role of perceived negative childhood experiences in the context of recent stress: Testing competing theoretical models. *Current Psychology*, 1-10.
- Lilly, M. M., & Allen, C. E. (2015). Psychological Inflexibility and psychopathology in 9-1-1 telecommunicators. *Journal of traumatic stress*, 28(3), 262-266.
- Linley, P. A., & Joseph, S. (2004). Positive change following trauma and adversity: A review. Journal of traumatic stress: official publication of the international society for traumatic stress studies, 17(1), 11-21.
- Little, S. A., & Garber, J. (1995). Aggression, depression, and stressful life events predicting peer rejection in children. *Development and psychopathology*, 7(4), 845-856.
- Lucas, J. J., & Moore, K. A. (2020). Psychological Flexibility: positive implications for mental health and life satisfaction. *Health promotion international*, *35*(2), 312-320.
- Lucas, R. E., & Diener, E. (2009). Personality and subjective well-being.
- Makriyianis, H. M., Adams, E. A., Lozano, L. L., Mooney, T. A., Morton, C., & Liss, M. (2019). Psychological Inflexibility mediates the relationship between adverse childhood experiences and mental health outcomes. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 14, 82-89.
- Matos, M., Carvalho, S. A., Cunha, M., Galhardo, A., & Sepodes, C. (2017). Psychological Flexibility and self-compassion in gay and heterosexual men: How they relate to childhood memories, shame, and depressive symptoms. *Journal of LGBT issues in counseling*, *11*(2), 88-105.

- Mayo, D., Corey, S., Kelly, L. H., Yohannes, S., Youngquist, A. L., Stuart, B. K., ... & Loewy, R. L. (2017). The role of trauma and stressful life events among individuals at clinical high risk for psychosis: a review. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, 8, 55.
- McCracken, L. M., & Velleman, S. C. (2010). Psychological flexibility in adults with chronic pain: a study of acceptance, mindfulness, and values-based action in primary care. *Pain*, 148(1), 141-147.
- McCrae, R. R., & Costa, P. T. (1987). Validation of the five-factor model of Personality across instruments and observers. *Journal of Personality and social psychology*, *52*(1), 81.
- McLaughlin, K. A., Conron, K. J., Koenen, K. C., & Gilman, S. E. (2010). Childhood adversity, adult stressful life events, and risk of past-year psychiatric disorder: a test of the stress sensitization hypothesis in a population-based sample of adults. *Psychological medicine*, *40*(10), 1647.
- Meyer, E. C., Kotte, A., Kimbrel, N. A., DeBeer, B. B., Elliott, T. R., Gulliver, S. B., & Morissette, S. B. (2019). Predictors of lower-than-expected posttraumatic symptom severity in war veterans: The influence of Personality, self-reported trait resilience, and Psychological Flexibility. *Behaviour research and therapy*, *113*, 1-8.
- Mikaeli, N., Rahimi, S., & Sedaghat, M. (2018). The role of family communication patterns, motivational structure and Psychological Flexibility in predicting couples' emotional divorce. *Family Pathology, Counseling and Enrichment Journal*, 4(1), 1-16.
- Obradović, J. (2012). How can the study of physiological reactivity contribute to our understanding of adversity and resilience processes in development?. *Development and psychopathology*, *24*(2), 371-387.
- Oishi, S., Diener, E., Lucas, R. E., & Suh, E. M. (2009). Cross-cultural variations in predictors of life satisfaction: Perspectives from needs and values. In *Culture and well-being* (pp. 109-127). Springer, Dordrecht.

- Park, C. L., & George, L. S. (2013). Assessing meaning and meaning making in the context of stressful life events: Measurement tools and approaches. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 8(6), 483-504.
- Park, C. L., & Helgeson, V. S. (2006). Introduction to the special section: growth following highly stressful life events--current status and future directions. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 74(5), 791.
- Ploubidis, G. B., & Frangou, S. (2011). Neuroticism and psychological distress: to what extent is their association due to person-environment correlation?. *European Psychiatry*, *26*(1), 1-5.
- Plumb, J. C., Stewart, I., Dahl, J., & Lundgren, T. (2009). In search of meaning: values in modern clinical behavior analysis. *The Behavior analyst*, 32(1), 85–103. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03392177
- Posner, J., Russell, J. A., & Peterson, B. S. (2005). The circumplex model of affect: an integrative approach to affective neuroscience, cognitive development, and psychopathology. *Development and psychopathology*, 17(3), 715–734. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579405050340</u>
- Power, R. A., & Pluess, M. (2015). Heritability estimates of the Big Five personality traits based on common genetic variants. *Translational psychiatry*, 5(7), e604. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2015.96</u>
- Roberts, B. W., Walton, K. E., & Bogg, T. (2005). Conscientiousness and health across the life course. *Review of General psychology*, 9(2), 156-168.
- Robertson, I. H. (2017). The stress test: Can stress ever be beneficial. *Journal of the British Academy*, *5*, 163-176.
- Rogers, C. R. (1964). Toward a modern approach to values: The valuing process in the mature person. *The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 68(2), 160.

- Seedat, S., Stein, D. J., Jackson, P. B., Heeringa, S. G., Williams, D. R., & Myer, L. (2009). Life stress and mental disorders in the South African stress and health study. *South African Medical Journal*, 99(5).
- Seery, M. D. (2011). Resilience: A silver lining to experiencing adverse life events?. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 20(6), 390-394.
- Seery, M. D., Holman, E. A., & Silver, R. C. (2010). Whatever does not kill us: cumulative lifetime adversity, vulnerability, and resilience. *Journal of Personality and social psychology*, 99(6), 1025.
- Seery, M. D., Leo, R. J., Lupien, S. P., Kondrak, C. L., & Almonte, J. L. (2013). An upside to adversity? Moderate cumulative lifetime adversity is associated with resilient responses in the face of controlled stressors. *Psychological science*, 24(7), 1181-1189.
- Shakiba, N., Ellis, B. J., Bush, N. R., & Boyce, W. T. (2020). Biological sensitivity to context: A test of the hypothesized curvilinear relation between early adversity and stress responsivity. *Development and psychopathology*, 32(2), 641-660.
- Shuwiekh, H., Kira, I. A., & Ashby, J. S. (2018). What are the Personality and trauma dynamics that contribute to posttraumatic growth?. *International Journal of Stress Management*, *25*(2), 181.
- Slavich, G. M., & Shields, G. S. (2018). Assessing Lifetime Stress Exposure Using the Stress and Adversity Inventory for Adults (Adult STRAIN): An Overview and Initial Validation. *Psychosomatic medicine*, 80(1), 17–27. https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.000000000000534
- Smout, M., Davies, M., Burns, N., & Christie, A. (2014). Development of the Valuing Questionnaire
 (VQ). Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science, 3(3), 164–172.
 doi:10.1016/j.jcbs.2014.06.001

- Sodhi, K., Luthra, M., & Mehta, D. (2016). Yerkes-dodson law for flow: A study on the role of competition and difficulty in the achievement of flow. *International Journal of Education and Management Studies*, 6(1), 95.
- Spikic, S., Mortelmans, D., & Pasteels, I. (2020). Does divorce change your Personality? Examining the effect of divorce occurrence on the Big Five Personality traits using panel surveys from three countries. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 110428.
- Stadter, P. A. (Ed.). (1998). Greek Lives. OUP Oxford.
- Steenhaut, P., Rossi, G., Demeyer, I., & De Raedt, R. (2019). How is Personality related to well-being in older and younger adults? The role of Psychological Flexibility. International Psychogeriatrics, 31, 1355–1365. doi:10.1017/S1041610218001904
- Steenhaut, Priska; Rossi, Gina; Demeyer, Ineke; De Raedt, Rudi (2020). Flexibility as a Mediator between Personality and Well-Being in Older and Younger Adults: Findings from Questionnaire Data and a Behavioral Task. Experimental Aging Research, 46(5), 446–468. doi:10.1080/0361073x.2020.1805935
- Tedeschi, R. G., & Calhoun, L. G. (1996). The Posttraumatic Growth Inventory: Measuring the positive legacy of trauma. *Journal of traumatic stress*, 9(3), 455-471.
- Tedeschi, R. G., & Calhoun, L. G. (2004). "Posttraumatic growth: Conceptual foundations and empirical evidence". *Psychological inquiry*, 15(1), 1-18.
- Teigen, K. H. (1994). Yerkes-Dodson: A law for all seasons. Theory & Psychology, 4(4), 525-547.
- Tibubos, A. N., Burghardt, J., Klein, E. M., Brähler, E., Jünger, C., Michal, M., ... & Beutel, M. E. (2020). Frequency of stressful life events and associations with mental health and general subjective health in the general population. *Journal of Public Health*, 1-10.
- Turban, D. B., Moake, T. R., Wu, S. Y. H., & Cheung, Y. H. (2017). Linking extroversion and proactive Personality to career success: The role of mentoring received and knowledge. *Journal* of Career Development, 44(1), 20-33.

- Updegraff, J. A., & Taylor, S. E. (2000). From vulnerability to growth: Positive and negative effects of stressful life events.
- Vowles, K. E., & McCracken, L. M. (2010). Comparing the role of Psychological Flexibility and traditional pain management coping strategies in chronic pain treatment outcomes. *Behaviour research and therapy*, 48(2), 141-146.
- Vowles, K. E., McCracken, L. M., Sowden, G., & Ashworth, J. (2014). Psychological Flexibility in coping with chronic pain: Further examination of the Brief Pain Coping Inventory-2. *The Clinical journal of pain*, 30(4), 324-330.
- Wersebe, H., Lieb, R., Meyer, A. H., Hofer, P., & Gloster, A. T. (2018). The link between stress, wellbeing, and Psychological Flexibility during an Acceptance and Commitment Therapy self-help intervention. *International Journal of Clinical and Health Psychology*, 18(1), 60-68.
- Whiting, D. L., Deane, F. P., Simpson, G. K., McLeod, H. J., & Ciarrochi, J. (2017). Cognitive and Psychological Flexibility after a traumatic brain injury and the implications for treatment in acceptance-based therapies: A conceptual review. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, 27(2), 263-299.
- Wolfe, J., Kimerling, R., Brown, P., Chrestman, K., & Levin, K. (1997). The Life Stressor Checklist-Revised (LSC-R) [Measurement instrument]. Available from <u>http://www.ptsd.va.gov</u>
- Yorulmaz, E., Civgin, U., & Yorulmaz, O. (2020). What is the role of emotional regulation and psychological rigidity in the relationship between stress and pathological Internet use?. *Dusunen Adam*, *33*(1), 71-78.

Appendices

Information and Consent Form

Appendix A

Who am I and what is this study about?. I am a psychology student in my final year of a BA Hons in Psychology provided by the National College of Ireland. As part of my degree, I am conducting a research study for my thesis. This study will primarily look at Psychological Flexibility, that is a person's openness to experiences as they occur in the present and their ability to engage in actions consistent with their chosen values. The relationship this variable may have to Personality traits and stressful life events will then be analysed using the data provided by participants. I chose this study as one of the most commonplace tasks we each face is learning how to move forward unhindered by setbacks or difficulties. In doing this study I hope to gather more information about this process.

What will taking part involve?. If you decide to take part in this study you will first be required to provide consent by ticking the consent box at the end of this page. You will then be asked to anonymously provide answers to questions on three areas; your Personality, your stressful life events, and your Psychological Flexibility. There is no time limit on submission once you begin, therefore if necessary you are encouraged to take a break and come back to it if you would like. Due to the nature of the questions asked in relation to stressful life events I encourage anyone who feels distressed as a result of these questions to contact the helplines provided at the end of this page. These helplines will be provided at the beginning and end of the stressful life events section should you feel distressed while participating and finally after answers have been submitted should you feel distressed following taking part.

Do you have to take part?. Participation is voluntary and you have the right to withdraw at any time without any consequence by simply exiting the questionnaire. If you choose to exit the questionnaire this will be anonymous as your anonymised data is only sent to the researcher once you complete the questionnaire and submit your results.

What are the possible risks involved in taking part?. As this study requires information on the type and frequency of adverse events you have experienced, if you decide you would like to participate you will be asked to indicate the frequency of each stressful life event that occurred to you, in the format: once, twice, and three times or more. These stressful events will cover topics such as bereavements, sexual assault, financial difficulty, and domestic abuse, illness or injury. For example:

What are the benefits of taking part?. You can provide anonymous information that may help in understanding the behaviours associated with better life outcomes in relation to different degrees of stressful experiences.

How will information provided be recorded, stored, and protected?. Answers will be given through the website 'Google Forms' then removed from this site and stored in an encrypted password protected file on the researchers computer.

Who should I contact for further information?. If you have any further questions or concerns relating to the use of this data or the questions involved, please do not hesitate to contact myself, Siobhán, by email at siobhan.c.research@gmail.com

Please take note of the following support services. In the event that you become distressed as a result of taking part in this study I encourage you to contact any of these numbers. These contact details will also be provided at the relevant section of this questionnaire, as well as at the end of this questionnaire.

Support Services. The Samaritans: (01) 872 7700, Pieta House: (01) 623 5606, Aware Support Line: +35316766166

Thank you very much for your time,

Siobhán

siobhan.c.research@gmail.com

By clicking "I consent" below you are consenting that you have read the information contained above, have understood it, are over the age of 18, and wish to partake in this research study

Response input via tick box

Measures

Appendix B

Demographic Questionnaire.

Please indicate your gender

- □ Female
- □ Male
- \Box Prefer not to say
- □ Other

Answer input to text box

Please indicate your age in numbers below

Answer input to text box

Appendix C

The Big Five Inventory - Short.

Openness: 7, 8, and 9.

- Conscientiousness: 13, 14, and 15.
- Extroversion: 4, 5, and 6.
- Agreeableness: 10, 11, and 12.

Neuroticism: 1, 2 and 3.

I see myself as someone who ...

- 1. worries a lot
- 2. gets nervous easily
- 3. (reverse coded) remains calm in tense situations
- 4. is talkative
- 5. is outgoing, sociable
- 6. (reverse coded) is reserved
- 7. is original, comes up with new ideas
- 8. values artistic, aesthetic experiences
- 9. has an active imagination
- 10. (reverse coded) is sometimes rude to others
- 11. has a forgiving nature
- 12. is considerate and kind to almost everyone
- 13. does a thorough job
- 14. (reverse coded) tends to be lazy
- 15. does things efficiently

Answer input via tick box Likert scale: strongly disagree, disagree, somewhat disagree, neither agree nor disagree, somewhat agree, agree, strongly agree

Appendix D

The Life Stressor Checklist - Revised (Adjusted). Paste the following link into a search bar for the full unadjusted measure: https://www.ptsd.va.gov/professional/assessment/documents/LSC-R.pdf Adjusted measure:

- 1. Have you ever been in a serious disaster (for example, an earthquake, hurricane, large fire, explosion)?
- 2. Have you ever seen a serious accident (for example, a bad car wreck or an on-the job accident)?
- 3. Was a close family member ever sent to jail?
- 4. Have you ever been sent to jail?
- 5. Were you ever put in foster care or put up for adoption?
- 6. Did your parents ever separate or divorce while you were living with them?
- 7. Have you ever been separated or divorced?
- 8. Have you ever had serious money problems (for example, not enough money for food or place to live)?
- 9. Have you ever had a very serious physical or mental illness (for example, cancer, heart attack, serious operation, felt like killing yourself, hospitalized because of nerve problems)?
- 10. Have you ever been emotionally abused or neglected (for example, being frequently shamed, embarrassed, ignored, or repeatedly told that you were "no good")?
- 11. Have you ever been physically neglected (for example, not fed, not properly clothed, or left to take care of yourself when you were too young)?
- 12. Have you ever experienced an abortion or miscarriage (lost your baby)?
- 13. Have you ever been separated from your child against your will (for example, the loss of custody or visitation or kidnapping)?
- 14. Has a baby or child of yours ever had a severe physical or mental handicap (for example, mentally retarded, birth defects, can't hear, see, walk)?
- 15. Have you ever been responsible for taking care of someone close to you (not your child) who had a severe physical or mental handicap (for example, cancer, stroke, AIDS, nerve problems, can't hear, see, walk)?
- 16. Has someone close to you died suddenly or unexpectedly (for example, sudden heart attack, murder or suicide)?
- 17. Has someone close to you died (do NOT include those who died suddenly or unexpectedly)?
- 18. When you were young (before age 16), did you ever see violence between family members (for example, hitting, kicking, slapping, punching)?
- 19. Have you ever seen a robbery, mugging, or attack taking place?

- 20. Have you ever been robbed, mugged, or physically attacked (not sexually) by someone you did not know?
- 21. After age 16, were you ever abused or physically attacked (not sexually) by someone you knew (for example, a parent or significant other, slapped,choked, burned, or beat you up)?
- 22. Have you ever been bothered or harassed by sexual remarks, jokes, or demands for sexual favors by someone at work or school (for example, a coworker, a boss, a customer, another student, a teacher)?
- 23. After age 16, were you ever touched or made to touch someone else in a sexual way because he/she forced you in some way or threatened to harm you if you didn't?
- 24. After age 16, did you ever have sex when you didn't want to because someone forced you in some way or threatened to harm you if you didn't?
- 25. Are there any events not included that have caused you serious stress? If so please indicate the frequency
- 26. Have any of the events mentioned above ever happened to someone close to you so that even though you didn't see it yourself, you were seriously upset by it?

Answers input to tick box: Once, Twice, Three times or more.

Appendix E

The Acceptance and Action Questionnaire - Revised.

- 1. My painful experiences and memories make it difficult for me to live a life that I would value.
- 2. I'm afraid of my feelings.
- 3. I worry about not being able to control my worries and feelings.
- 4. My painful memories prevent me from having a fulfilling life.
- 5. Emotions cause problems in my life.
- 6. It seems like most people are handling their lives better than I am.
- 7. Worries get in the way of my success.

Answers inputted via a tick box on a 7-point Likert scale: never true very seldom true seldom true sometimes true frequently true almost always true always true.

Appendix F

The Valuing Questionnaire.

- 1. I spent a lot of time thinking about the past or future, rather than being engaged in activities that mattered to me (Reverse)
- 2. I was basically on "auto-pilot" most of the time (Reverse)
- 3. I worked toward my goals even if I didn't feel motivated to
- 4. I was proud of how I lived my life
- 5. I made progress in the areas of my life I care most about
- 6. Difficult thoughts, feelings or memories got in the way of what I really wanted to do (Reverse)
- 7. I continued to get better at being the kind of person I want to be
- 8. When things didn't go according to plan, I gave up easily (Reverse)
- 9. I felt like I had a purpose in life
- 10. It seemed like I was just 'going through the motions', rather than focusing on what was important to me (Reverse)
 Answers inputted via a tick box on a 6-point Likert scale: Not at all true Completely true

Debriefing Form

Appendix G

Thank you for your participation in the current study into stressful life events, Personality, and Psychological Flexibility.

Due to the anonymous nature of the data gathered in this study, once data is submitted it cannot be withdrawn. However, if you would like to withdraw your data you can do so now by exiting the study. If you choose to do so this is anonymous and without repercussion. If you would like your responses to be included in this study please select submit at the end of this page.

Again, thank you for your participation in this study, your contribution is greatly appreciated and a crucial part of making this study possible. If you know of any friends, family or acquaintances that may wish to take part and meet criteria for eligibility to participate in this study you are invited to forward a link to this study.

If you have any questions regarding any aspect of this study, please contact the researcher at siobhan.c.research@gmail.com.

In the event that you feel distressed by participation in this study due to the sensitive topics covered in some of the survey questions, you are encouraged to contact the following support services:

Support Services: The Samaritans: (01) 872 7700, Pieta House: (01) 623 5606, Aware Support Line: +35316766166

Thank you for your time and contribution,

Siobhan

siobhan.c.research@gmail.com

Evidence of Data

Appendix H

Model 3 main output.

			Variables	in the Eq	uation				
								95% C.I.fo	r EXP(B)
		В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Step 1 ^a	SLE_Total_Levels			12.041	3	.007			
	SLE_Total_Levels(1)	.321	1.401	.052	1	.819	1.378	.088	21.472
	SLE_Total_Levels(2)	2.091	.711	8.637	1	.003	8.093	2.007	32.637
	SLE_Total_Levels(3)	1.536	.521	8.704	1	.003	4.646	1.675	12.890
	Gender(1)	215	.484	.198	1	.656	.806	.312	2.083
	Age	.025	.020	1.588	1	.208	1.026	.986	1.067
	ExtraversionTotal	.025	.090	.078	1	.779	1.026	.859	1.224
	AgreeablenessTotal	160	.103	2.411	1	.120	.852	.696	1.043
	ConscientiousnessTotal	.021	.101	.043	1	.836	1.021	.838	1.243
	NeuroticismTotal	519	.101	26.375	1	.000	.595	.488	.725
	OpennessTotal	.148	.091	2.651	1	.103	1.160	.970	1.387
	VQ_TotalValues	.195	.043	20.716	1	.000	1.215	1.117	1.321
	Constant	1.195	2.199	.295	1	.587	3.302		

a. Variable(s) entered on step 1: VQ_TotalValues.

				Cor	relation Matri	ix							
		Constant	SLE_Total_L evels(1)	SLE_Total_L evels(2)	SLE_Total_L evels(3)	Gender(1)	Age	ExtraversionT otal	Agreeablenes sTotal	Conscientiou snessTotal	NeuroticismT otal	OpennessTot al	VQ_TotalValu es
Step 1	Constant	1.000	262	210	264	084	320	455	247	444	497	356	.132
	SLE_Total_Levels(1)	262	1.000	.294	.292	054	.262	.106	152	043	.145	.144	.302
	SLE_Total_Levels(2)	210	.294	1.000	.553	218	.418	.203	189	052	035	.044	.178
	SLE_Total_Levels(3)	264	.292	.553	1.000	042	.397	.194	.009	113	040	016	.064
	Gender(1)	084	054	218	042	1.000	129	099	.380	103	.034	168	.020
	Age	320	.262	.418	.397	129	1.000	010	276	090	.041	.306	.037
	ExtraversionTotal	455	.106	.203	.194	099	010	1.000	.113	020	.135	021	125
	AgreeablenessTotal	247	152	189	.009	.380	276	.113	1.000	.005	099	345	342
	ConscientiousnessTotal	444	043	052	113	103	090	020	.005	1.000	.128	.077	246
	NeuroticismTotal	497	.145	035	040	.034	.041	.135	099	.128	1.000	019	.017
	OpennessTotal	356	.144	.044	016	168	.306	021	345	.077	019	1.000	064
	VQ_TotalValues	.132	.302	.178	.064	.020	.037	125	342	246	.017	064	1.000

Appendix I

Variable view of data.

Untitled3	DataSet3] - IBM SPSS Statistics Data Edi	tor									- (
le <u>E</u> dit	View Data Transform Anal	rze <u>G</u> raphs <u>U</u> tilities Extension	ns <u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> elp								
2	🚔 🛄 🗠 🗠 .	🖉 📥 📰 💽 🔥	- 📰 📰 🚽 🚱 💽								
_	Name	Type	Width	Decimals	Label	Values	Missing	Columns	Align	Measure	Role
2	Gender	Numeric	8	0		(0, Male)	None	13	I Right	🚓 Nominal	N Input
3	Age	Numeric	40	0		None	None	12	🚟 Right	🖋 Scale	N Input
4	ExtraversionTotal	Numeric	8	0		None	None	26	🚟 Right	🛷 Scale	S Input
5	AgreeablenessTotal	Numeric	8	0		None	None	20	III Right	🛷 Scale	S Input
6	ConscientiousnessTotal	Numeric	8	0		None	None	24	III Right	🛷 Scale	> Input
7	NeuroticismTotal	Numeric	8	0		None	None	18	i Right	I Scale	> Input
8	OpennessTotal	Numeric	8	0		None	None	19	all Right		> Input
9	Extraversion_Q1_PreReversal	Numeric	39	0		{1, Strongly Disagree}	None	12	all Right	Nominal	S Input
10	Extraversion_Q inceversed	Numeric	8	0		(1, Strongly Disagree)	Nee	25	The Right	Nominal	S input
12	Extraversion_Q2	Numeric	20	0		(1, Stronghy Disagree)	None	12	20 Right	Nominal	S Input
13	Agroaphionars 01	Numeric	40	0		[1, Strongly Disagree]	None	12	2 Dialat	A Maminal	> Input
14	Agreeableness Q2 PreReversal	Numeric	40	0		[1, Strongly Disagree]	None	12	200 Right	& Nominal	N Input
15	Agreeablesness Q2Reversed	Numeric	8	0		(1. Strongly Disagree)	None	27	I Right	& Nominal	N Input
16	AgreeablenessQ3	Numeric	40	0		{1, Strongly Disagree}	None	12	I Right	& Nominal	> Input
17	Conscientiousness_Q1Reversed	Numeric	8	0		(1, Strongly Disagree)	None	30	I Right	🖧 Nominal	N Input
18	Conscientiousness_Q2Reversed	Numeric	8	0		(1, Strongly Disagree)	None	30	Tight Right	🚴 Nominal	N Input
19	Conscientiousness_Q1_PreReve	Numeric	40	0		(1, Strongly Disagree)	None	12	🚟 Right	🚴 Nominal	N Input
20	Conscientiousness_Q2_PreReve	Numeric	40	0		(1, Strongly Disagree)	None	12	🚟 Right	🚓 Nominal	N Input
21	Conscientiousness_Q3	Numeric	40	0		(1, Strongly Disagree)	None	12	III Right	💑 Nominal	S Input
22	Neuroticism_Q1	Numeric	35	0		(1, Strongly Disagree)	None	12	III Right	🚓 Nominal	S Input
23	Neuroticism_Q2	Numeric	40	0		{1, Strongly Disagree}	None	12	i Right	🚓 Nominal	S Input
24	NeuroticismQ3_PreReversal	Numeric	40	0		{1, Strongly Disagree}	None	12	i Right	🚓 Nominal	S Input
25	Neuroticism_Q3Reversed	Numeric	8	0		{1, Strongly Disagree}	None	24	III Right	🚓 Nominal	> Input
26	Openness_Q1	Numeric	40	0		Strongly Disagree)	None	12	I Right	Nominal	> Input
27	Openness_Q2_PreReversal	Numeric	40	0		{1, Strongly Disagree}	None	12	ill Right	Nominal	N Input
28	Openess_Q2Reversed	Numenc	8	0		{1, Strongly Disagree}	None	20	all Right	Nominal	S Input
29	Openness_Q3	Numenc	40	0		{1, Strongly Disagree}	None	12	all Right	Nominal	S Input
30	Psychological_nexibility	Numeric	8	0		(0, Psychologically intexible)	None	29	THE Right	Nominal	S input
31	AAQ_001	Numeric	0	0		10 Name Taxal	None	11	The Right	Ordinal	S Input
33	440.02	Numeric	26	0		(0, News True)	None	12	2 Diabit	Continual	> Input
34	AAO 03	Numeric	40	0		(0, Never True)	None	12	ill Right	- Ordinal	> Input
35	AAO O4	Numeric	40	0		(0. Never True)	None	12	Bioht	J Ordinal	Ninnet
36	AAO 05	Numeric	34	0		(0 Never True)	None	12	Bight	J Ordinal	Ninout
37	AAQ Q6	Numeric	40	0		(0, Never True)	None	12	I Right	Ordinal	> Input
38	AAQ_Q7	Numeric	37	0		(0, Never True)	None	12	III Right	J Ordinal	N Input
39	VQ_TotalValues	Numeric	8	0		None	None	11	I Right	# Scale	> Input
40	VQ_Q1_R	Numeric	40	0		{0, Not At All True}	None	12	I Right	J Ordinal	S Input
41	VQ_Q2_R	Numeric	40	0		{0, Not At All True}	None	12	III Right	Ordinal	N Input
42	VQ_Q3	Numeric	40	0		(0, Not At All True)	None	12	I Right	J Ordinal	N Input
43	VQ_Q4	Numeric	34	0		{0, Not At All True}	None	12	🚟 Right	J Ordinal	S Input
44	VQ_Q5	Numeric	40	0		{0, Not At All True}	None	12	I Right	J Ordinal	S Input
45	VQ_Q6_R	Numeric	40	0		{0, Not At All True}	None	12	III Right	Ordinal	N Input
46	VQ_Q7	Numeric	40	0		[0, Not At All True]	None	12	2 Right	d Ordinal	N Input
47	VQ_Q8_R	Numeric	40	0		{0, Not At All True}	None	12	I Right	J Ordinal	N Input
48	AG_Ga	Numenc	35	0		(U, NOT AT All True)	None	12	Hight Right	Urdinal	* input
49	VQ_Q10	Numeric	40	0		(U, NOT At All True)	None	12	au Kight 20 Diskt	d Ordinal	> input
50	SLE_Total_LevelS	Numeric	0	0		None	None	11	The Right	2 Ordinal	> input
62	SLE_TOTAL	Numeric	0	0		None	None	10	Pign Diala	Ordinal	> input
62		Numeric	0	0		None	Nene	10	Pillipite Pillipite	Croinal Ordinal	> mpor
54	SLF 3	Numeric	8	0		None	None	10	an Diala	-D Ordinal	N logal
55	SLF 4	Numeric	8	0		None	None	10	and Dight	-t Ordinal	Nord
56	SLE 5	Numeric	8	0		None	None	10	Right	Ordinal	> Input
	[4]	- Contracting					(The star	110			
ta View	formable Mount										